S272850

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

EMILY WHEELER,	\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
Petitioner,	(2 nd District No. B310024)
remoner,	(LASC Nos. 9CJ00315, BR054851)
vs.)
APPELLATE DIVISION OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,	
Respondent,	}
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	
Real Party In Interest.	,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After Issuing a Written Opinion Denying the Petition for Writ of Mandate Second Appellate District, Division Three

ERIKA ANZOATEGUI ALTERNATE PUBLIC DEFENDER OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY

ISSUES ON REVIEW

- 1. When a trial court exercises its discretion in ordering the dismissal of a strict liability offense pursuant to Penal Code section 1385, may a trial court consider a defendant's lack of knowledge of the offense as one of the reasons supporting its order of dismissal?
- 2. When a particular state law has a *mens rea* component and local ordinances prohibiting the same conduct are strict liability offenses, and the local ordinance contains a provision directing courts to interpret the local ordinance in a way that is compatible with state law, should state law preempt the local ordinances?

NECESSITY FOR REVIEW

These issues arose in a case involving petitioner, Mrs. Emily Wheeler, an 86 year old woman with no prior criminal record who required a wheelchair to attend the trial court proceedings. The trial court exercised its discretion under Penal Code section 1385 to dismiss the Los Angeles Municipal Code charges alleged against petitioner. The charges were related to petitioner being an owner of a commercial property that, without petitioner's knowledge, had been leased to a business that did not have the appropriate license to sell cannabis. When the trial court ordered petitioner's case dismissed, the trial court referenced petitioner's age, lack of criminal history, her exemplary life, and the fact that there was no showing that she knew anything about marijuana activity occurring on the property.

Respondent, the Appellate Division of the Los Angeles County Superior Court, reversed the trial court. Respondent held that while the trial court correctly considered petitioner's age, lack of criminal history, and exemplary life, it erred in considering the fact that there was no showing that petitioner was aware of the unlicensed cannabis activity on the property. Respondent held that when it comes to strict liability offenses, the trial court can consider a defendant's knowledge as an aggravating factor but not a mitigating factor when weighing a Penal Code section 1385 motion.

The Court of Appeal upheld respondent's analysis and affirmed that the trial court improperly considered petitioner's lack of knowledge when weighing whether to dismiss pursuant to Penal Code section 1385. Doing so ""was an improper dismissal based on the [trial] court's disagreement with the law, or disapproval of the impact the provisions would have on [petitioner]."² This holding is contrary to years of case law that addresses how trial court's should weigh the competing interests involved in Penal Code section 1385 dismissals.

It is also worth noting that in an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three, also recently confronted the same issue and held that the same trial court did properly consider the defendant's lack of knowledge when weighing a Penal Code section 1385 motion involving strict liability offenses. In that unpublished opinion, the

² Exhibit A, Wheeler v. Appellate Division, Case No. B310024, page 26.

³ People v. Tam, Case No. B310738, Filed July 21, 2021 (unpublished opin.). Petitioner does not refer to this unpublished case as authority for any holdings contained therein. Petitioner brings this case to the Court's attention for the purpose of showing the necessity for this Court to grant review for the purpose securing uniformity of decision on the issue of whether a trial court can properly consider a defendant's lack of knowledge when weighing a Penal Code section 1385 dismissal. The same division from the same Court of Appeal coming to opposite conclusions within a six month

same division held that "...a defendant's knowledge may be an appropriate factor for a court to consider as part of a holistic examination under section 1385, even when the defendant is charged with a strict liability crime. That factor may be relevant to an examination of the "'particulars of [the defendant's] background, character, and prospects," all of which are appropriate for a court to consider under section 1385."

Other than the published opinion at issue in this case, there does not appear to be any case law on the question of whether a trial court may consider a defendant's lack of knowledge when a strict liability offense is at issue and the trial court is considering a dismissal pursuant to section 1385. In its reasons supporting the holding, the Court of Appeal did not cite to any case law supporting its conclusion, either. Thus, this Court should grant review to settle this important question of law that can affect every criminal case involving strict liability offenses, pursuant to Calif. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1).

Petitioner's case also raises the issue of state law preemption. The Los Angeles Municipal Code sections that real party in interest charged petitioner with should be preempted by a state law regulating the conduct at issue in this case. The Los Angeles Municipal Code ordinances duplicate Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 by criminalizing the use of a

_

period in determining the propriety of a section 1385 dismissal order from the same trial judge shows that reviewing courts can benefit from guidance so that decisions are uniform and based on a consistent understanding of the law.

⁴ *People v. Tam*, Case No. B310738, Filed July 21, 2021, page 9 (unpublished opin.), citing *People v. S.M.* (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 210, 220.

⁵ See, Exhibit A, Wheeler v. Appellate Division, Case No. B310024, page 25-26.

property for unlicensed marijuana sales. The ordinances conflict with Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 in that the ordinances are strict liability offenses while the state provision requires a *mens rea*. Adding to the complexity of the preemption analysis is a related Los Angeles Municipal Code ordinance that expressly defers to state law. 6 This stated deference to state law was raised by petitioner but unaddressed by the Court of Appeal's opinion.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeal drew a distinction between "preemption analysis of local land use and licensing ordinances, and preemption analysis of local ordinances that enter the area of criminal law..." The Court of Appeal held that the ordinances at issue are more in the nature of land use and licensing ordinances, and since the state has disavowed an intention to occupy the field of nuisance abatement, the ordinances are not preempted.⁸

In petitioner's view, this holding does not properly weigh the impact of a criminal prosecution—as opposed to a civil proceeding—on individuals, as demonstrated in cases such as *In re Portnoy* (1942) 21 Cal. 2d 237. Further, the published opinion did not consider the Los Angeles Municipal Code ordinance declaring that the ordinances affecting licensure of cannabis businesses shall not conflict with state law. Finally, the court's opinion ignored the holding of this Court in *City of Riverside v. Inland Empire Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc.* (2013) 56 Cal. 4th 729. As summarized by Justice Liu in his concurring opinion, the rule is that "state

⁶ LAMC 105.07 ("No conflict with state law.") and LAMC 104.17 ("Severability.").

⁷ Exhibit A, Wheeler v. Appellate Division, Case No. B310024, page 18.

⁸ Exhibit A, Wheeler v. Appellate Division, Case No. B310024, page 24.

⁹ LAMC 105.07.

law may preempt local law when local law prohibits not only what a state law 'demands' but also what the state stature permits or authorizes." ¹⁰

The policy behind preemption is based on the necessity of preventing the uncertainty and confusion of dual regulations. ¹¹ The presence of local and state crimes prohibiting real property from being used for illegal cannabis sales, the local offense requiring no knowledge and the state offense requiring proof of knowledge of the illegal activity, raises confusion and uncertainty. The Court of Appeal's opinion appears to conflict with this Court's ruling in In re Portnoy (1942) 21 Cal. 2d 237, 239-241 (local ordinance preempted when it has no mens rea requirement and partially duplicates a state criminal statute which requires mens rea). This Court has settled the law in the area of preemption of municipal regulation when the issues are whether state "immunity statutes" such as the Compassionate Use Act ("CUA") and the Medical Marijuana Program ("MMP") preempt local regulation. ¹² However, the issue of whether state criminal law mens rea requirements preempt conflicting local regulation of illegal and unlicensed cannabis sales has not been settled.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE

On June 26, 2018, Mrs. Emily Wheeler, the petitioner, and her son, Aaron Wheeler, were charged with unlawfully establishing, operating, and participating in an unlicensed cannabis business in violation of LAMC 104.15(a)(1); unlawfully leasing, renting to, or allowing an unlicensed

¹⁰ City of Riverside v. Inland Empire Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc. (2013) 56 Cal. 4th 729, 763 (concurring opinion), see also 758 and 760-761.

¹¹ Abott v. City of Los Angeles (1960) 53 Cal. 2d 674, 682.

¹² See City of Riverside v. Inland Empire Patients Health and Wellness Center, Inc. (2013) 56 Cal. 4th 729.

Commercial Cannabis establishment on land in violation of LAMC 104.15(b)(4); and maintaining or using a structure for purposes other than permitted in the zone, in violation of LAMC 12.21(a)(1)(A). ¹³ Omar Brown was arrested after he was found operating the cannabis shop on their property and he was also charged in the complaint. ¹⁴

On October 7, 2019, petitioner's trial counsel filed a motion to dismiss on the grounds that the Los Angeles ordinances were unconstitutionally vague, and counsel also invited the trial court to exercise its discretion to dismiss the case under Penal Code section 1385. ¹⁵ As part of the motion, petitioner's trial counsel attached a declaration stating that petitioner was 85 years old, had never been arrested, was an upstanding member of the community, did not have any direct or indirect connection to or awareness of the presence of the cannabis on the property, and that she merely owned the property. ¹⁶ Real party in interest filed an opposition to this motion which stated facts regarding a controlled purchase from Mr. Brown, and Mr. Brown's subsequent arrest at a later date on the property. ¹⁷ However, real party did not allege any facts that showed that petitioner was ever notified or ever had any knowledge of any cannabis sales activities, licensed or not, occurring on the property.

_

¹³ Exhibit A of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Clerk's Transcript ("CT"), pgs. 1-4.

¹⁴ Exhibit A of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Clerk's Transcript ("CT"), pgs. 1-4.

¹⁵ Exhibit A of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Clerk's Transcript ("CT"), pgs. 10-21.

¹⁶ Exhibit A of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Clerk's Transcript ("CT"), pg. 20.

¹⁷ Exhibit A of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Clerk's Transcript ("CT"), pgs. 24-25.

On November 19, 2020, petitioner appeared in the courtroom in her wheelchair and a hearing was held on the motion. ¹⁸ The trial court denied the motion to dismiss based on the asserted unconstitutionality of the ordinances. ¹⁹ The trial court then ordered the case against petitioner dismissed pursuant to section 1385 based on the following: petitioner was a woman born in 1934 with no criminal history, petitioner had led an exemplary life, and there was no showing that petitioner had any awareness of the alleged illegal activity on her property. ²⁰ Notably, the trial court did not agree to dismiss co-defendant Aaron Wheeler's case pursuant to section 1385. ²¹

Real party in interest filed an appeal with respondent, the Appellate Division of the Los Angeles Superior Court. On November 20, 2020, respondent filed its opinion reversing the trial court's judgment. ²² Respondent held that the trial court's reliance on petitioner's lack of knowledge as a mitigating circumstance was improper. ²³ Respondent also held that the ordinances at issue were not preempted by state law. ²⁴

_

¹⁸ Exhibit B of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Reporter's Transcript ("RT"), pg. 301.

¹⁹ Exhibit B of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Reporter's Transcript ("RT"), pg. 306.

²⁰ Exhibit B of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Reporter's Transcript ("RT"), pg. 306-309.

²¹ Exhibit B of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Reporter's Transcript ("RT"), pg. 309.

²² Exhibit I of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Slip Opinion.

²³ Exhibit I of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Slip Opinion, pg. 5.

²⁴ Exhibit I of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Slip Opinion, pg. 10.

On December 3, 2020, petitioner filed a Petition for Rehearing and Application for Certification for Transfer with respondent.²⁵ Respondent denied this petition on December 9, 2020.²⁶

On December 23, 2020, petitioner filed a Petition for Transfer with the Court of Appeal. ²⁷ On January 14, 2021, the Court of Appeal denied petitioner's Petition for Transfer. ²⁸

On January 25, 2021, petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate with the Court of Appeal. ²⁹ This petition argued that respondent exceeded its jurisdiction and erred in holding that the LAMC ordinances at issue were not preempted by Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 and Penal Code section 373a. The petition also argued that respondent exceeded its jurisdiction and erred by holding that the trial court could not consider petitioner's lack of knowledge in weighing whether to dismiss the case pursuant to section 1385.

On February 11, 2021, the Court of Appeal summarily denied the Petition for Writ of Mandate.³⁰

On February 16, 2021, petitioner filed a Petition for Review with this Court.³¹ On March 30, 2021, this Court granted the Petition for Review.³²

²⁵ Exhibit J of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Petition for Rehearing and Application for Certification for Transfer.

²⁶ See Exhibit C, LASC Appellate Division Case Summary,

²⁷ Exhibit K of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Petition for Transfer, Case no. B309498.

²⁸ Exhibit L of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, Order, Case no. B309498.

²⁹ Second District Court of Appeal, Case no. B310024.

³⁰ Second District Court of Appeal, Case no. B310024.

 $^{^{31}}$ Supreme Court, Case No. S267083.

 $^{^{\}rm 32}$ Supreme Court, Case No. S267083.

After further briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued its written opinion on December 15, 2021, attached as Exhibit A to this Petition for Review.³³

³³ Exhibit A, *Wheeler v. Appellate Division*, Second District Court of Appeal, Filed on December 15, 2021, Case no. B310024.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court should grant review to decide whether when a trial court exercises its discretion to dismiss a strict liability charge in the interests of justice pursuant to section 1385, a trial court may consider a defendant's lack of knowledge of the crime as a factor supporting dismissal.

A trial court's dismissal of the charges in the interests of justice pursuant to Penal Code section 1385 is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard.³⁴ A close review of the record and real party in interest's arguments in their return shows that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ordering the municipal code violations alleged against petitioner dismissed.

A trial court has wide discretion to dismiss alleged offenses under section 1385, and in applying its discretion the court should consider the nature and circumstances of the defendant's current crimes, whether the defendant has any prior criminal history, and the particulars of the defendant's background, character, and prospects. ³⁵ A defendant's knowledge and awareness of the underlying crime is also an appropriate part of the court's exercise of discretion under 1385, even when the alleged violation is a strict liability offense. That factor can be relevant to the court's examination of the "'particulars of [the defendant's] background, character, and prospects,'" all of which are appropriate for a court to consider under section 1385. ³⁶ "So long as the trial court balances the interests of justice in a

 $^{^{34} \,} People \, v. \, Smith$ (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 869, 873.

 $^{^{35}}$ People v. Williams (1998) 17 Cal. 4th 148, 162-163.

 $^{^{36}}$ People v. S.M. (2017) 9 Cal. App.5th 210, 220, citing People v. Williams (1998) 17 Cal. $4^{\rm th}$ 148, 161.

rational way, appellate courts have, and will, give their imprimatur to such dismissals, even when the exercise of that judgment deprives the prosecutor of asserting enhanced penalties."³⁷

In addition to the wide discretion given to trial courts in exercising their authority to dismiss pursuant to section 1385, the trial court based its ruling on uncontested evidence that was presented to it in the form of an affidavit from counsel: petitioner is 85 years old with no prior criminal history, petitioner had lived an exemplary life, petitioner was unaware that marijuana was present on her property, petitioner was not directly or indirectly connected to the marijuana on her property, and petitioner merely owned the property.³⁸

The Court of Appeal held that the trial court's consideration of petitioner's lack of knowledge of the strict liability offenses she was charged with was an improper fact to base the dismissal on:

"In this case, the 'interests of society' as expressed in the ordinances are to aid the City in enforcing its commercial cannabis licensing scheme, and to minimize incentives to undercut this scheme by operating unlicensed cannabis businesses, by imposing criminal liability on landlords who rent to cannabis businesses without ascertaining that such businesses are licensed. Given these societal interests, the appellate division did not err in concluding that '[f]inding that a person's lack of knowledge called for the dismissal of offenses,

³⁷ People v. S.M. (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 210, 220, citation omitted.

³⁸ See, Exhibit B of the Petition for Writ of Mandate, page 20 ["...Ms. Wheeler has no prior criminal history. In fact, Ms. Wheeler is 85 years old and has never been arrested. Ms. Wheeler is an upstanding member of the community. Ms. Wheeler did not have any direct or even indirect connection to the marijuana or had any idea of its presence on their property. She merely owned the property."] and page 21 [declaration of counsel Alvin Yu].

when the offenses required no knowledge for conviction, in effect, was an improper dismissal based on the court's disagreement with the law, or disapproval of the impact the provisions would have on defendant'." ³⁹

The Court of Appeal cited no authority for the holding that consideration of a defendant's lack of knowledge when weighing a dismissal under section 1385 was improper. A long history of cases examining the issue of whether a trial court abused its discretion in ordering a charge dismissed pursuant to section 1385 have held that considering the impact of a conviction on the defendant is appropriate. These cases also establish that if the court's consideration of the impact of a conviction on a defendant is improper, then no dismissal of a charge pursuant to section 1385 would ever be proper. ⁴⁰ Finally, it is worth noting that the trial court never expressed any antipathy for the laws that petitioner was charged with at any stage of the proceedings.

A trial court is entitled to consider the nature and circumstances of the offense and the defendant's background—such as her age and lack of criminal record—in exercising its discretion under section 1385. 41 Like many crimes, the LAMC ordinances charged in this case can be violated with a range of acts, degrees of personal involvement or participation, degrees of moral blameworthiness, knowledge or lack thereof, and whether the accused person intended for the crime to happen.

³⁹ Exhibit A, Wheeler v. Appellate Division, Case No. B310024, page 26.

⁴⁰ See, for example, *People v. S.M.* (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 210 (Court dismissed case based on the defendant's age, no prior criminal history, and he did not reoffend in the four years since the case had been pending).

 $^{^{41}}$ See $People\ v.\ Orabuena$ (2004) 116 Cal. App.
4th 84, 99; $People\ v.\ S.M.$ (2017) 9 Cal. App.
5th 210, 218-219.

A defendant's moral blameworthiness is specifically a part of the nature and circumstances of the crime which may support a dismissal under section 1385. 42 The principle that a court may consider a defendant's lack of moral culpability for a crime is a well settled principle in the law. 43 These considerations of the circumstances of the crime may be taken into account even if a defendant is criminally liable because the purpose of section 1385 is to effectuate the decision that in the interests of justice a defendant should not be required to undergo the punishment dictated by statute. 44

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