IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

EMILY WHEELER,

Defendant, Respondent and Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES.

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Real Party in Interest. No. S272850

(Court of Appeal No. B310024, Second Appellate District, Division Three)

(Los Angeles Superior Court Appellate Div. No. BR054851)

(Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. 9CJ00315)

On A Petition For Review Of A Court Of Appeal Decision After Denial Of A Petition For Writ Of Mandate

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael N. Feuer, Los Angeles City Attorney
Meredith A. McKittrick, Super. Deputy City Attorney

INTRODUCTION

The Petition for Review ("PFR" or "Petition") purports to seek review of the Court of Appeal's opinion ("Opinion") (Wheeler v. Appellate Division of Superior Court (2021) 72 Cal.App.5th 824) issued in response to Petitioner Emily Wheeler's Petition for Writ of Mandate. The instant Petition is flawed for many reasons and ultimately fails to state any legal issue that is appropriate for this Court's review. The first purported basis for review concerns whether a trial court may consider lack of knowledge when dismissing a strict liability offense pursuant to Penal Code section 1385. There are no grounds for review because the Opinion overturning the Penal Code section 1385 dismissal does not conflict with the unpublished People v. Tam (Case No. B310738) opinion nor is it contrary to established law.

The second purported basis for review is Petitioner's assertion that state law preempts sections of the Los Angeles Municipal Code ["LAMC"] governing cannabis regulation under the theories of contradiction and duplication preemption.

Petitioner's primary basis for claiming preemption is her assertion the Opinion conflicts with *In Re Portnoy* (1942) 21 Cal.2d 137. However Petitioner misreads and conflates *Portnoy* — as she has been consistently doing throughout these proceedings; *Portnoy* simply has no bearing on this case. Moreover, there is no preemption because there is no duplication or contradiction between state law and the LAMC.

Neither asserted basis for review provides an actual reason for this Court to grant review pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1) as the Opinion does not result in conflicting authority or leave unsettled an important question of law. The only true conflict that Petitioner raises is the conflict between the outcome Petitioner desired and the actual outcome of the case as set forth in the Opinion. If this level of disagreement amounted to a basis for review, this Court would be obliged to sit in review of every single decision made by the lower courts. For these reasons, this Court should deny the Petition.

RELEVANT PROCEEDINGS

On June 12, 2019, officers of the Los Angeles Police Department executed a search warrant on the unlicensed commercial cannabis activity, an illegal storefront, operating at 720 W. Imperial Highway. (Petition for Writ of Mandate ["PWM"], Exh. A, p. 25.)¹ On June 26, 2019, the People charged Emily Wheeler ("Petitioner") with a violation of Los Angeles Municipal Code ("LAMC") sections 104.15, subdivision (a)(1) [establish, operate or participate ... in any unlicensed commercial cannabis activity in the City, 104.15, subdivision (b)(4) [leasing to, renting to or otherwise allowing an unlawful establishment to wit: unlicensed commercial cannabis activity] and 12.21, subdivision (A)(1)(a) [land use zoning violation] by way of a criminal complaint arising from the June 12, 2019 search warrant in Los Angeles Superior Court case number 9CJ00315. (PWM, Exh. A, p. 1.) On November 19, 2019, the trial court dismissed the case against Petitioner pursuant to Penal Code

¹ All references to exhibits are to the exhibits lodged by the Petitioner with the Petition for Writ of Mandate filed in the Court of Appeal.

section 1385 citing Petitioner's age, lack of criminal history, and lack of knowledge that criminal activity was occurring at the location as reasons for dismissal. (PWM, Exh. A, p. 41; Exh. B, p. 309, lns. 6-13.) On November 22, 2019, the People filed a timely notice of appeal (BR054851). (PWM, Exh. A, p. 42.) Both parties presented oral argument on September 17, 2020. (PWM, Exh. C, p. 118.) The Appellate Division of the Los Angeles Superior Court issued its opinion on November 20, 2020, reversing the trial court's order of dismissal and remanding for further proceedings. (PWM, Exh. I.) On December 3, 2020, Petitioner filed a Petition for Rehearing and Application for Certification for Transfer in the Appellate Division. (PWM, Exh. J.) The Appellate Division denied both requests on December 9, 2020. (PWM, Exh. C, p. 117.) On December 23, 2020, Petitioner filed a Petition for Transfer in the Court of Appeal (B309498). (PWM, Exh. K.) The Court of Appeal denied the request on January 14, 2021. (PWM, Exh. L.) On January 25, 2021, Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal (B310024). The Court of Appeal denied the petition on February 11, 2021. (PFR, Appendix, p. 33.) On February 16, 2021, Petitioner filed a Petition for Review with this Court. After requesting that the People file an Answer, this Court granted review and transferred the matter back to the Court of Appeal. (Case S267083.) The People filed a Return and Petitioner filed a Reply. (Case B310024). After hearing oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued a published written opinion on December 15, 2021.

(Exhibit A to PFR.) Petitioner then filed the instant Petition for Review.

REASONS TO DENY REVIEW

- I. It is Not Necessary to Review The Court of Appeal Opinion Regarding Penal Code Section 1385
 - A. The Court of Appeal Opinion is Not Contrary to Years of Established Case Law

Petitioner presents the Penal Code section 1385 dismissal as her first ground for review despite the Court of Appeal devoting a scant one and a half pages to discussing issue. The Court cited the applicable law governing Penal Code section 1385 dismissals and noted the People's strong interest in prosecuting the ordinances at issue, which includes enforcing the City's commercial cannabis licensing scheme and minimizing incentives to undercut the scheme by imposing criminal penalties on landlords who rent to illegal cannabis businesses. (Opinion, pp. 25-26.) With those interests in mind, the Court of Appeal found that the Appellate Division did not err in concluding that the trial court's dismissal of the matter was the improper result of the trial court's disagreement with the law or disapproval of the impact that a conviction would have on Petitioner. (Opinion, p. 26.) The Opinion did not alter or amend existing law regarding Penal Code section 1385 and, contrary to Petitioner's urging, there is nothing for this Court to review.

In suggesting that the Court of Appeal's conclusion that the trial court abused its discretion when dismissing the matter pursuant to Penal Code section 1385 is contrary to years of case

law, Petitioner herself turns a blind eye to years of case law that the Court of Appeal relied on in making its decision. Penal Code Section 1385 actions are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard which, as noted in the Opinion, "is deferential [...] but it is not empty." (*People v. Williams* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 148m 162.) The Court of Appeal clearly articulated that the basis for its holding was the well-established principle that dismissals under this section must be in the furtherance of justice. The furtherance of justice requires the court to consider both the constitutional rights of the defendant and the interests of society as represented by the People. The Court of Appeal determined that in this instance, the trial court had not properly undertaken this consideration because the trial court was motivated to dismiss the matter based on a personal antipathy for the law.² This is not a proper basis to dismiss. (People v. Mcglothin (1998) 7 Cal.App.4th 768, 476.)

That Penal Code section 1385 dismissals must be in the furtherance of justice is a core principle of that legal process. The Opinion in no way flies in the face of prior caselaw. The Opinion simply re-affirms that the furtherance of justice is "paramount" in the application of Penal Code section 1385. (*People v. Williams, supra,* 17 Cal.4th at p. 159.) There is no unsettled important question of law here that needs to be resolved simply

² Petitioner's argument that the trial court never expressed antipathy toward the law is belied by both the Appellate Division and the Court of Appeal, which sit as courts of review, finding that the trial court did express such antipathy.

because the Court of Appeal applied existing caselaw that supports an outcome other than that desired by Petitioner.

B. The Court of Appeal Opinion Regarding Penal Code Section 1385 Does Not Create a Conflict of Law

In arguing that the Court of Appeal created a conflict in law with its holding on the Penal Code Section 1385 issue, Petitioner both misinterprets the holding in *People v. Tam* (B310738) and glosses over the fact that it is an unpublished opinion. The Court of Appeal's opinion in *Tam* was not certified for publication, nor was the Appellate Division's opinion in *Tam* that preceded the Court of Appeal's review in that matter. Therefore, the *Tam* decision cannot be cited as authority (Cal. Rule of Court, rule 8.115(a).) and has *no effect* on the law. The entirety of the *Tam* case is limited in effect exclusively to the outcome in the *Tam* case. This reason alone renders the Court's review unnecessary to settle important questions of law and does not support a request to this Court for review pursuant to rule 8.500(b)(1).

But even if the Court of Appeal's opinion in Tam was published, Petitioner misinterprets the holding in Tam to urge a conflict where none exists. The Court of Appeal's holding on Penal Code section 1385 in the instant case turned on the trial court's decision making based on a personal antipathy for the law. In the Tam decision, the Court of Appeal found an abuse of discretion because there was no evidence before the court when the case was dismissed pursuant to Penal Code section 1385. As

to whether the trial court could consider knowledge, or lack thereof, the opinions both suggest that *knowledge* could be an appropriate consideration given the facts of the case. Where the opinions both set out adequate legal reasoning and come to the same conclusion, there is no conflict that necessitates review by this Court to ensure uniformity of decision pursuant to rule 8.500(b)(1).

II. It is Not Necessary to Review the Court of Appeal Opinion Because State Law Does Not Preempt the Los Angeles Municipal Code Sections In this Case

The California Constitution states that "[a] county or city may make and enforce within its limits all local, police, sanitary, and other ordinances and regulations not in conflict with general laws." (Cal. Const., art. XI, § 7.) Local government authority is broad and "preemption by state law is not lightly presumed." (City of Riverside v. Inland Empire Patients Health & Wellness Center, Inc. (2013) 56 Cal.4th 729, 738 (Inland Empire).) Under the Constitution, a local ordinance "in conflict with" a state statute is void. (Id. at p. 742.) For purposes of California's preemption doctrine, a "conflict" exists if the local ordinance (1) duplicates the state statute, (2) contradicts the statute, or (3) enters an area fully occupied by general law. (Id. at p. 743.) With respect to duplication, "[l]ocal ordinances are said to be duplicative of general law when they are 'coextensive' with the state statute." (Kirby v. County of Fresno (2015) 242 Cal. App. 4th 940, 954.) With respect to contradiction, "[c]onflict of the contradictory type exists for purposes of preemption when the local ordinance is 'inimical' to the state statute, which means the

local 'ordinance directly requires what the state statute forbids or prohibits what the state enactment demands." (Id. at p. 955 citing Inland Empire, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 743; see also O'Connell v. City of Stockton (2007) 41 Cal.4th 1061, 1068 ["A local ordinance contradicts state law when it is inimical to or cannot be reconciled with state law."].) "The party claiming that general state law preempts a local ordinance has the burden of demonstrating preemption." (Big Creek Lumber Co. v. County of Santa Cruz (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1139, 1149.) Petitioner does not argue that state law occupies the field of cannabis regulation; her only theories of alleged preemption are contradiction and duplication. Merely because Petitioner disagrees with the Court of Appeal's holding on the issue of preemption does not create an unsettled important question of law to warrant review of this Court under rule 8.500(b)(1).

A. LAMC Section 104.15, Subdivision (b)(4), Which is a Licensing Ordinance, Is Not Duplicative of Nor Does It Contradict Health and Safety Code Section 11366.5

Petitioner claims that Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 and LAMC section 104.15, subdivision (b)(4), are duplicative because they both prohibit a person from renting, leasing or allowing illegal cannabis conduct on real property. In the context of preemption, duplication means that the statutes are "coextensive" i.e., they are the same. Here, the statutes are not the same because they do not cover the same conduct.

Health and Safety Code section 11366.5, subdivision (a) states:

Any person who has under his or her management or control any building, room, space, or enclosure, either as an owner, lessee, agent, employee, or mortgagee, who knowingly rents, leases, or makes available for use, with or without compensation, the building, room, space, or enclosure for the purpose of unlawfully manufacturing, storing, or distributing any controlled substance for sale or distribution shall be punished by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than one year, or pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170 of the Penal Code.

Cannabis qualifies as a controlled substance under this code section. (See Health & Saf. Code, § 11007 [controlled substance includes substances in Health and Safety Code section 11054]; Health & Saf. Code, § 11054, subd. (d)(13) [cannabis is a Schedule I controlled substance].) As such, Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 regulates cannabis as a controlled substance.

LAMC section 104.15, on the other, hand regulates commercial cannabis activities. LAMC section 104.15, subdivision (b)(4), states that it is "unlawful to...Lease, rent to, or otherwise allow an Unlawful Establishment to occupy any portion of parcel of land." An "Unlawful Establishment" is defined as "any Person engaged in Commercial Cannabis Activity if the Person does not have a City issued Temporary Approval or License." (LAMC, § 104.01, subd. (a)(29).) Commercial Cannabis Activity "includes the cultivation, possession, manufacture, distribution, processing, storing, laboratory testing, packing, labeling, transportation, delivery or sale of Cannabis or Cannabis products in the City...." (LAMC, § 104.01, subd. (a)(7).

The state statute prohibits renting structures for the purpose of unlawfully manufacturing, storing, or distributing *any* controlled substance for sale or distribution. This includes cannabis, but it also includes *hundreds* of other controlled substances. (See Health & Saf. Code, §§ 11054 – 11058.)

LAMC section 104.15, on the other hand, regulates only commercial cannabis activities in the City of Los Angeles. LAMC section 104.15, subdivision (b)(4), specifically prohibits renting to, leasing to, or otherwise allowing commercial cannabis activity that the City of Los Angeles has not licensed. (See LAMC, § 104.15, subd. (b)(4).) Additionally, LAMC section 104.15, subdivision (b)(4) prohibits the use of any portion of the land itself, not just the structures on the land. (*C.f.* Health & Saf. Code, § 11366.5 [prohibiting renting buildings, rooms, spaces, and enclosures).) The elements of the two crimes are not the same. Therefore, the statutes do not cover the same subject matter and are not coextensive with each other or duplicative.

Petitioner also claims that Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 and LAMC section 104.15, subdivision (b)(4) contradict each other because Health and Safety Code section 11366.5 requires the person to knowingly rent structures for the purpose of unlawfully storing a controlled substance while LAMC section 104.15, subdivision (b)(4), simply prohibits renting property to unlicensed cannabis activities without any knowledge requirement. This does equate to contradiction preemption which only occurs when "the local 'ordinance directly requires what the state statute forbids or prohibits what the state

enactment demands." (Kirby v. County of Fresno, supra, 242 Cal.App.4th at p. 955 citing Inland Empire, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 743.) "Thus, no inimical conflict will be found where it is reasonably possible to comply with both the state and local laws." (Inland Empire, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 743.)

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